9 4-5-99



EDS:lam 11/23/98 BL-21706-PK

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

SUPREME CT. CASE NO .: Chies Boy BB Berk

4TH DCA CASE NOS.: 96-2481 96-2958, 96-2964 & 97-0223

L.T. CASE NO.: 90-20360-14

Florida Bar #710482

MICHAEL JON DiPIETRO and MYRA DiPIETRO, a/k/a MYRA BELLIO, a/k/a MYRA J. CHANDLER a/k/a MYRA LaPOINT, a/k/a MYRA NO LAST NAME, a/k/a MYRA,

Petitioners,

v.

DAVID GRIEFER and ANN GRIEFER, his wife, as Guardians of the Person and Property of LAUREL B. GRIEFER, an Incompetent,

Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

#### ON REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

#### INTRODUCTION AND GENERAL OVERVIEW OF THE FACTS

Laurel Griefer, an excited bride-to-be, hurried out of David's bridal shop across a four-lane street in a busy business district; in her right hand she carried a long, wide white garment bag containing a recently purchased wedding gown. She proceeded across the street with this bag held high by her head so that the bag would not drag on the pavement. At a 5 mph pace she stepped, without looking or without being able to look due to the position of the bag by her head, into the path of the oncoming white Camaro driven by Michael DiPietro, and owned by Myra DiPietro. The evidence showed that Michael could do nothing to alter the course of events. After nearly five full days of trial on the issues of fault only, the jury decided that Laurel's act of striding out into traffic without looking was mostly the cause of the unfortunate accident. Competent substantial evidence supports the jury's decision.

It is basic to the jurors' common driving experience and indeed, even to their experience as passengers on the roadway, that a pedestrian may abruptly step in front of a moving vehicle without leaving the driver a chance to avoid her. This is what the jurors decided at bar and the Fourth District Court of Appeal should not have disturbed it.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

#### Introduction

This Court is asked to review and to quash the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal which held for the first time in Florida in a personal injury case, that Plaintiffs are entitled to prejudgment interest before the entry of the judgment and on an incomplete jury verdict which to this point, has not been rendered against the Defendant. In its current form, the verdict cannot be reduced to judgment.

The DiPietros also seek reinstatement of the verdict rendered by the second jury in this case, since the Fourth District improperly decided that reversal and remand for a new trial is warranted because the trial court excluded the testimony of the Griefers' human factors expert to testify in the Plaintiffs' case. It will be shown below that the Fourth District Court of Appeal also reversibly erred in reversing the jury verdict on the ground that the Griefers' human factors expert and their accident reconstructionist should have been allowed to testify in rebuttal.

It is the DiPietros' position that the Fourth District's decision to allow prejudgment interest under the facts and procedural posture of this case is contrary to Florida law and is inequitable and manifestly unfair. It will be also shown that the Fourth District Court of Appeal wrongly reversed the jury's determination of liability in this case as the trial court correctly excluded the testimony of Dr. Snyder based upon the actions of the Plaintiffs in the trial court. Also, neither Dr.

Snyder's nor Dr. Fogerty's testimony is proper rebuttal evidence under Florida law.<sup>1</sup>

#### <u>Griefer I</u>

This action was commenced by the Griefers as the guardians of Laurel Griefer, their daughter, who was seriously injured while a pedestrian who attempted to cross a four-lane street known as Las Olas Boulevard in Fort Lauderdale, Florida. Michael DiPietro operated the motor vehicle which struck Laurel as she crossed the street.<sup>2</sup> In "Griefer I" (as in Griefer II, the second trial) the Plaintiffs' theory of the case was that Michael did not keep a proper lookout; was travelling in excess of the posted speed; and did not have his headlights on. The Defendants' theory was that Laurel stepped in front of the moving automobile without looking and that Michael could not have avoided the accident.

In Griefer I, the jury found Laurel 70% negligent and Michael 30% negligent. The jury awarded \$2,740,000.00 in future economic damages reduced to present value in the amount of \$775,000.00. The jury further awarded \$1,300,000.00 in non-economic damages making the total award \$2,075,000.00. The net recovery, reduced by Laurel's 70% fault resulted in the entry of a judgment for the Griefers in the amount of \$622,250.00.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This Court has the discretion to review all issues in the case once it exercises its discretionary jurisdiction. <u>Savoie v.</u> <u>State</u>, 422 So.2d 308 (Fla. 1982); <u>Cantor v. Davis</u>, 489 So.2d 18, 20 (Fla. 1986).

The facts are stated in more detail <u>infra</u>, as they are pertinent to the Court's inquiry with respect to the rulings on the admissibility of the Griefers' expert witnesses' testimony challenged here.

The Griefers appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. They sought a new trial on liability and damages. They argued that a new trial on these issues was warranted because the trial court failed to give an additur and a requested jury instruction on unlawful speed. The District Court reversed the judgment and verdict and remanded for a new trial on the issues of fault and damages because of the failure to give the jury instruction. On rehearing, the Court decided that a new trial on liability only was warranted, since the failure to give the jury instruction on unlawful speed did not affect the damages amounts decided by the first jury.<sup>3</sup>

#### <u>Griefer II</u>

The case was returned to the trial court for retrial. Given the reversal, The Defendants moved to vacate the earlier entered judgment. (I.; 102-106) That was granted and the Court ordered the judgment vacated. (I; 113) During the interim between trials, the Griefers moved to amend their complaint to include a claim for prejudgment interest from the date of the jury verdict in the first trial. The trial court allowed the amendment and denied the DiPietros' challenge to the amendment via a Motion to Strike or Dismiss. (I.; 87)

The case proceeded at trial a second time on the issue of liability only. The jury determined that Laurel was 90% negligent and that Michael was 10% negligent. (I.; 162-163)

The Plaintiffs again appealed arguing, inter alia, that the

Griefer v. DiPietro, 625 So.2d 1266 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993).

trial court erred by failing to allow their human factors expert to testify either or direct or in rebuttal. They also argued that their expert accident reconstructionist who testified at length on direct, Dr. Fogerty, should have been allowed to testify on rebuttal as well. The DiPietros contend that the Fourth District should not have reversed the jury verdict based on these contentions.

## The Underlying Theories Of The Plaintiffs And Defendants In Griefer II.

The underlying contentions of the parties are important to the issue of whether the trial court correctly conditionally admitted the testimony of Dr. Snyder and excluded the testimony of Dr. Snyder and Dr. Fogerty on rebuttal. The contentions are crucial because it will be seen below that the Plaintiffs amply presented evidence to support their theory of the case, without the need to present the testimony of <u>two expert witnesses</u> and rebuttal testimony, against the testimony of the DiPietros single expert witness.

The Plaintiffs contended that Michael was negligent driving at dusk or after dark without the headlights of his vehicle being on. The Plaintiffs contended that this created a trap for Laurel as she allegedly viewed traffic pass from her right to her left as she faced southbound in the middle of the four-lane, east-west roadway. The Plaintiffs contended that since other vehicles had their headlights on, Michael's failure to use his headlights caused Laurel to perceive Michael's car as either a parked car or an open space in the traffic. The Plaintiffs also argued that Michael

exceeded the speed limit and that because of the lack of headlights, could not see Laurel as well as if he had them on.

The Defendants contended that Laurel hurried from David's Bridal Shop with her wedding gown. In her right hand, a wide, white, long, gown bag was held high above her head so it would not drag the roadway. Laurel successfully crossed the first two westbound lanes of the east-west roadway. At a 5 mph pace, she continued across the eastbound lanes in this manner, without looking, because of the position at which she held her dress. The Defendants contended there was nothing Michael could do to prevent the collision.

#### The Evidence Upon Which The Jury Rendered Its Verdict

The Plaintiffs read portions of the deposition testimony of Michael DiPietro and also excerpts of his testimony in the prior trial. Those reveal that Michael was on his way to the first night of his new job hosting a "Murder Mystery Cruise." (Tr. IV; 7) He left early (approximately 6 p.m.) for the 8 p.m. departure of the cruise. (Tr. IV; 7, 154) He was not "running late" at all. (Tr. IV; 7) Michael also testified live before the jury.

Regarding the lighting conditions, Michael testified that when he left home, it was dusk. He also testified that he did not have his headlights on and stated frankly, he did not remember turning the headlights on or off, following the accident. (Tr. IV; 16, 154, 170) Yet, he was still able to see vehicles on the road. (Tr. IV; 154, 161) He was able to see his dashboard. He recalled observing it several times. (Tr. IV; 155, 171, 173)

Michael testified that he turned eastbound on Las Olas Boulevard which is an east/west roadway, having two lanes in the eastbound direction and two westbound lanes. (Tr. IV; 8) Prior to the accident, he stopped for a traffic signal in the right-hand lane closest to metered parking spaces on the adjacent curb in the (Tr. IV; 8, 17-18, 155) The light westbound lanes of travel. changed and as he cleared the intersection, Michael observed a vehicle that abruptly pulled out from one of the metered parking spaces in front of him and to his right. (Tr. IV; 8, 155, 157) In response, Michael moved to the eastbound left-hand lane to give the (Tr. IV; 8, 159) The vehicle also moved into the vehicle room. left-hand lane ahead of Michael, accelerating. (Tr. IV; 8, 20, 157) At this point, out of the corner of his eye, Michael observed a white bag to the left of his lane of travel. It appeared to him that it was propelled by or lifted in the breeze. (Tr. IV; 21, 160) Michael hesitated momentarily, but proceeded further because he thought it was just a bag. (Tr. IV; 160) Still, he testified that he veered somewhat to the right to avoid the bag. Just as he struck the bag, he realized that he had also struck Laurel, who was carrying the long wedding dress bag in her right hand, held headhigh, shielding her from Michael's view, as she walked horizontally across Michael's path of travel toward her car. Her vehicle was parked across the street from the bridal shop. (Tr. IV; 160) At no time before impact did Michael realize it was a person on the To him, it appeared as some sort of bag or other object. roadway. (Tr. IV; 37) Michael thought it could have been a large trash bag

being wind-blown. (Tr. IV; 38-39)

Michael was unsure regarding when he applied his brakes, whether it was before, at, or immediately after impact. (Tr. IV; 42-44, 160) Prior to impact, Michael testified he was travelling at "normal speed" except for the time he slowed due to his observance of the vehicle pulling from the metered parking space. (Tr. IV; 52) He could not, however, testify as to his exact speed at impact.

Faye Zollick, a civilian traffic accident investigator for the City of Ft. Lauderdale, stated that when she arrived at the scene at 6:30 p.m., it was dark. (Tr. IV; 62-63) Ms. Zollick testified that the area was lighted by lights from local businesses in the district. (Tr. IV; 62-63) She confirmed that Michael related to her at the accident scene that a vehicle had pulled out from a parking space adjacent to his lane of travel. (Tr. IV; 58) Michael also recounted his perception of the white bag immediately prior to the impact. (Tr. IV; 65) While at one point, the witness stated that she failed to remember a "noticeable breeze", she also stated that there could have been enough breeze to cause leaves to rustle--corroborating Michael's testimony. (Tr. IV; 61, 62)

Ft. Lauderdale patrolman Douglas Hartman was the first officer on the scene. He was approximately 100 feet away from the impact. He heard a thud but did not hear any tires screeching prior to impact. The officer testified that he found lighting conditions dark, but had no problem seeing vehicles on the roadway due to lighting in the area. (Tr. IV; 79-84)

The video deposition of witness Mel Wiggins was played. After bicycle-riding, Wiggins was seated on a bench on the southeast corner of the intersection just east of the accident scene. (Tr. IV; 89) He first observed Laurel in the middle of Las Olas which is divided by a double yellow line. Laurel was wearing a red dress that Mr. Wiggins had no difficulty seeing. (Tr. IV; 90) He testified that Laurel was carrying some sort of bag in her right It was held high because it was long and would otherwise hand. (Tr. IV; 90-91) Laurel was facing south so that she was drag. facing across the eastbound lanes of Las Olas and not to her right, which is in a westerly fashion toward oncoming traffic such as Michael's vehicle. (Tr. IV; 90-92; 109-112) Mr. Wiggins stated that he did not see Laurel as she stepped from the place where he last observed her but only saw her as she was struck. (Tr. IV; 117)

It was evident that Laurel was in a hurry. Ms. Geyer stated at first that Laurel did not appear to be in a hurry as Laurel spoke to a photographer on the way out of the store. Still, Ms. Geyer acknowledged that Laurel told the photographer that she only had a minute since she just called her fiance and said that she had finally found a wedding dress. (Tr. IV; 136-137) Ms. Geyer also overheard Laurel tell her fiance that she would be home shortly. (Tr. IV; 140) Ms. Geyer additionally admitted that Laurel told the photographer she was in a hurry and he could only have five minutes of her time. (Tr. IV; 142-143)

The Conditional Allowance of Dr. Snyder's Testimony

Prior to the commencement of trial, the Plaintiffs failed to respond to discovery requests propounded regarding expert witness opinions. In large measure, the Defendants propounded the interrogatories since the Plaintiffs added Dr. Harry Snyder to their list of expert witnesses. He was an additional expert of the Plaintiffs and did not testify in Griefer I, whereas Drs. Fogerty and Benedict did. Because the interrogatories went unanswered, an ex-parte motion to compel was filed and the trial court ordered the interrogatories answered within 10 days from November 27, 1995.

The interrogatories remained unanswered and, as a result, the Defendants moved to strike Dr. Snyder from appearing as an expert, since they were unaware of his opinions and had an insufficient amount of time to prepare to rebut the opinions. At the scheduling conference approximately 2 1/2 weeks before trial, the Judge granted the motion to strike, <u>subject to allowing Dr. Snyder to</u> <u>testify by agreement of the parties in order to avoid the obvious</u> <u>prejudice</u>. (R. 239)

After travelling to North Carolina to depose Dr. Snyder and being unable to do so due to an illness, the Defendants eventually deposed Dr. Snyder in Ft. Lauderdale on December 27, 1995, 13 days before trial. At the scheduling conference, however, Plaintiffs' counsel informed the trial court that Dr. Snyder had no time to attend a deposition until the trial. The Plaintiffs then moved for clarification of the earlier order striking Dr. Snyder as a witness. (R. 130-132) The chronology of events is succinctly set forth in the transcript of the hearing. (Supp. II; 1-15) Defense

counsel explained that while Dr. Benedict could address some of Dr. Snyder's opinions concerning what was visible, a motion in limine would be filed to seek to limit Dr. Snyder's testimony to exclude areas Dr. Benedict could not address. (Supp. II; 10-12) The Judge abided by his previous order which stated that Dr. Snyder could testify pursuant to the agreement of the parties. (Supp. II; 13) In effect, the Court's order allowed testimony from Dr. Snyder to the extent it could be addressed by the Defendants' only expert. The order, entered five days before trial, also stated that the trial court would consider Dr. Snyder testifying in rebuttal, <u>if</u> <u>necessary</u>. (Supp. II; 14)

#### The Expert Testimony At Trial

Dr. Fogerty offered opinions concerning the "bottom line" aspects of the accident dealing with accident reconstruction. For example, Dr. Fogerty testified that Laurel crossed the street at approximately 5 mph or 7 ft/sec. immediately prior to impact. (Tr. V; 66-67) He testified that five or six seconds elapsed from the time Laurel left the curb in front of David's until the time of the accident and that she most probably travelled a diagonal path toward her vehicle, parked on the curb opposite the bridal store. (Tr. V; 75-77) He testified that Michael had less than 2 1/2 seconds to avoid the accident but that he had the opportunity to avoid the collision. (Tr. V; 90, 94) Dr. Fogerty testified as to the range of speeds at which the DiPietro vehicle was travelling. This was between 29.5 - 37/43 mph. (Tr. V; 102-104) Dr. Fogerty also had the perception that Laurel was in a hurry crossing the

street. (Tr. V; 143) Dr. Fogerty explained the variation in the ranges of numbers since it was undetermined whether Michael braked before or at impact. (Tr. V; 144)

On cross-examination, Dr. Fogerty admitted he could not discount the fact that Michael's vehicle could have been travelling at 25 mph (well below the speed limit) at impact. (Tr. V; 148) This was consistent with Michael's estimate of his speed. (Tr. IV; 31)

While purporting not to in a self-serving fashion, Dr. Fogerty offered "human factors" opinions regarding the circumstances and conditions at the time of the accident and how the lighting conditions influenced those involved. These opinions supported the Plaintiff's theory of the case.

Dr. Fogerty testified that the fact that the white Camaro driven by Michael was stopped at the intersection down the street from the point of the collision without headlights is important. This is because the pedestrian, Laurel, had the opportunity to reach a (wrong) conclusion by observing the vehicle in the righthand lane. If the Camaro's headlights were not on, Dr. Fogerty opined that the other cars parked in spaces adjacent to the righthand lane caused Laurel to have to make a decision whether the Camaro was one of the cars actually parked, or one travelling in the stream of traffic without its lights on in her direction. (Tr. V; 28) Thus, Dr. Fogerty offered opinions supporting Plaintiffs' theory that the fact that the Camaro's lights were off created a trap for Laurel traversing the roadway. In addition, Dr. Fogerty

opined that eyes go to lit areas like a moth to a flame as opposed to unlit areas such as the Camaro. (Tr. V; 29) Dr. Fogerty testified that there is greater demand for the attention of the eyes to move from an unlit source to a lit source. (Tr. V; 29) Dr. Fogerty testified that the lack of headlights in the area was a "major factor" with respect to the lighting conditions and the cause of the accident. (Tr. V; 30)

Additionally along these lines, Dr. Fogerty testified that it was an important fact that Michael saw a bag moving from his left to right as it assisted Dr. Fogerty in his opinion as to causation. This is so, Dr. Fogerty testified, since it deals with the judgment of an individual who was driving. (Tr. V; 36) Dr. Fogerty stated that his son drove a 1983 Camaro similar to that of Michael's and testified to his observations as did Dr. Benedict. Dr. Fogerty personally drove it after sunset and he testified it would be pretty hard to observe the dashboard without the headlights being on. (Tr. V; 40) As a result, it would take longer to glean information from the dashboard. (Tr. V, 41) Dr. Fogerty stated that most people move their eyes toward the dash with relative frequency during a 15-minute drive and observe it with "pretty good frequency." (Tr. V, 41) Dr. Fogerty added that the amount of time the pedestrian is on the street was an important factor as it affects the driver's ability to see the pedestrian. (Tr. V; 58)

Dr. Fogerty testified extensively concerning Michael's ability to see in Laurel's direction and why the "phantom vehicle" did not inhibit his line of sight. Dr. Fogerty also testified at length

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