REFF,RENCE TO SYMBOLS USED IN THIS BRIEF 

David and Ann Griefer, the parents of Laurel Griefer, will be referenced in 

this brief as “the Griefers.” Laurel will be referenced separately. Michael 

DiPietro, who drove the car which struck Laurel, will be referenced as 

“DiPietro. ” 

The prior decisions in this case are Griefer v. DiPietro, 625 So. 2d 1226 

(Fla. 4th DCA 1993), and Griefer v. DiPiefro, 708 So. 2d 666 (Fla. 4th DCA 

1998). The latter is the decision being reviewed. These are referenced as 
“Griefer ’93” and “Griefer ’98, ” respectively. Copies of these decisions are 

attached as Appendices 1 and 2.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Court’s grant of conflict review was improvidently granted. There is 

no decisional conflict, and the carefully thought-out decision of the district court 

has correctly applied the principles which underlay any award of prejudgment 

interest. The district court appropriately upheld the award of prejudgment 

interest under the rationale of Argonaut Ins. Co. v. May Plumbing Co., 474 So. 
2d 212, 215 (Fla. 1985), which held that a jury verdict fixes the amount of a 
plaintiff‘s loss and that a later determination of comparative fault does not alter 

the amount of that loss. “Liability” and “damage” are distinct concepts. Under 

the Argonaut rationale, the loss amount is “liquidated” by the jury’s verdict, and 

a calculation of prejudgment interest is merely a mechanical computation to be 

made by the court. 

The Griefers were not responsible for the delay between the jury’s verdict 

setting the amount of their loss in 1991, and the entry of a judgment setting the 

proportion of that loss for which DiPietro is responsible. DiPietro was. The 

Griefers’ appeals from two trials which the district court has held to be flawed 

were necessitated by errors which DiPiefro injected into those proceedings. The 
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Griefers’ desire for a fair trial on liability was fully vindicated by the district 

court’s two decisions which reversed the flawed jury trials on liability. 

As a matter of equity, the district court was correct in holding that the 

Griefers were prejudiced by the time loss of money on whatever sum is ultimate- 

ly found to be due them from DiPietro. DiPietro was not prejudiced, for he had 

the opportunity to earn interest on the funds which he has retained since 1991. 

There is no reason for the Court to provide DiPietro with a second, full 

record review of the district court’s decision with respect to evidentiary rulings of 

the trial court. These other issues are not related to the issue of prejudgment 

interest, and the Court has frequently declined to provide a second merits review 

under these circumstances. Moreover, the issues implicated by the three trial 

court rulings involve well-established principles from decisions of this Court 

which simply call for an application to the particular facts here. There is no 

policy reason for the Court to express itself again on these same points of law. In 

any event, the district court’s treatment of the three evidentiary issues raised by 

DiPietro was correct. The trial court grossly abused its discretion by denying the 

Griefers an opportunity to present expert witness testimony to the jury on the 

issue of human factors analysis, and in denying them rebuttal on both accident 

reconstruction and human factors. 

If the Court elects to consider the evidentiary rulings raised by DiPietro, 

then it must also consider another issue of reversible error which was presented 

to the district court but found unnecessary to reach. The acts of denying the 

Griefers’ post-trial motions and entering judgment were done by a trial judge who 

never heard any evidence in the proceeding, after the presiding judge had recused 

himself after tainting the jury verdict with overt prejudice and bias against the 

Griefers. 
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ARGUMENT 

The four issues decided by the district court are offered for review here by 
DiPietro. The first, relating to prejudgment interest, was the basis of the Court’s 
grant of discretionary review on the basis of decisional conflict. The Griefers 
respectfully reiterate what they suggested in their jurisdictional brief, that the 
district court’s decision to allow an award of prejudgment interest was a matter of 
first impression which does not conflict with the case law or principles which 
underlay prejudgment interest. The district court discussed the applicable facts 
and policy considerations at length in its opinion, providing a strong reason for 
the Court to forego a second, independent expression of opinion on that issue. 

Should the Court elect to address the issue, however, the decision of the 
district court should nonetheless be affirmed. The district court’s decision 

represents a correct application of the doctrinal foundation for prejudgment 
interest and, in relation to the facts here, provides equity between the parties. 

The other three issues briefed by DiPietro ask the Court to second guess 
the district court’s determination that the trial court had abused its discretion in 
denying the Griefers an opportunity to present relevant, non-cumulative, expert 
witness testimony to the jury. As noted earlier and more fully discussed below, 
the Court need not and should not reach any of these issues. The intense record 
review required for an evaluation of the evidentiary issues DiPietro has 
presented - issues which have no prospect of providing precedent for any other 
court or any legal guidance to attorneys in any other judicial proceeding - is the 
assigned domain of the district courts under the present constitutional scheme for 
the distribution of judicial powers. A discussion of the rationale for leaving 
record review to judges of the district courts appears in Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 
2d 1356 (Fla. 1980). 

10 
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In any event, even if the Court were to accept DiPietro’s invitation to 

provide a minute and detailed record review of the trial court proceeding, and 

even if the Court were then to agree with DiPietro that the district court was 
wrong on all three of the issues it considered (as would be necessary for the 

Court to grant the relief which DiPietro seeks’), the Court could not provide that 

relief without delving into yet another issue, not reached by the district court, 

which was presented to that court as an independent ground for reversal and a 
new trial on liability. 

The district court stated in Griefer ’98 that, because it was reversing on the 

basis of the exclusionary rulings which prevented the Griefers from establishing 

their case, the court “need not reach the other grounds [presented by the 

Griefers] for reversal.” 708 So. 2d at 672.9 The primary other ground which 

had been raised before the district court was the denial of post-trial motions and 
entry of judgment by Judge Reasbeck, following the recusal of Judge Moe for 

communication of his anti-Griefer bias to the jury. 

Grounds for reversal presented to a district court but not addressed in the 

court’s opinion are preserved for review once the Court accepts a case for 

DiPietro asks the Court to reverse and remand for reinstatement of the 
jury’s liability determination in the second trial. (IB 44). If the district 
court was correct on either issue, however, DiPietro would not be entitled 
to a reinstatement of the verdict and judgment rendered in the second trial. 
The district court stated, as well, that it did not need to address issues on 
cross-appeal raised by DiPietro other than prejudgment interest. 
Griefer ’98, 708 So. 2d at 672. DiPietro has not raised any of those other 
cross-appeal issues here, however, as a consequence of which they are 
deemed abandoned. Korabeck v ,  Childs, 98 Fla. 576, 124 So. 24 (Fla. 
1929); City of Miami v, Stecklofl 111 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1959); Bell v. 
State, 289 So. 2d 388 (Fla. 1973). 
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plenary review. Savuie v.  State, 422 So. 2d 308, 312 (Fla. 1982) (“once this 

Court has jurisdiction of a cause, it has jurisdiction to consider all issues 

appropriately raised in the appellate process, as though the case had originally 

come to this Court on appeal”); Cantor v.  Davis, 489 So. 2d 18, 20 (Fla. 1986) 

(deciding an issue which the district court never reached because it had not been 

decided in the trial court). lo This independent taint to the second trial is alone 

sufficient for the Court to leave intact the district court’s decision that a new trial 

on liability is necessary. 

I. The district court correctly held that the Griefers are entitled to 
prejudgment interest. 

The district court in this case was asked to decide whether prejudgment 

interest on a pre-determined amount of damages should run from the date of a 
jury verdict throughout subsequent retrials on liability, even though the 

percentage of a defendant’s comparative fault and consequently the Griefers’ 

ultimate dollar award, will not be determined until a jury fixes them with finality. 

That situation is quite unique in Florida. The uniqueness of the situation brings 

into play equitable factors not present in the usual case where the gap in time is 

only the brief interval between jury verdict and the entry of judgment. 

Some of the many Florida appellate decisions in which jury trials have 

been reversed for a retrial only on liability are referenced in Griefer ’93, 625 So. 

2d at 1229. In only one Florida appellate decision, however - the one now 
before the Court - has there been any consideration or discussion of the issue of 

prejudgment interest in that circumstance. The decision of the district court on 

lo While the Griefers believe the Court should not entertain the non-conflict 
issues presented by DiPietro, the recusal issue must be reached if the Court 
decides otherwise, in order to avoid a piecemeal adjudication. 
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the issue of prejudgment interest here is completely without conflicting decisional 

precedent from any other Florida appellate court. That absence of conflicting 

Florida precedent goes to the heart of the Court’s “jurisdiction” under Article V, 

section 3(b)(3) of the Constitution, of course. It is significant that the district 

court has provided a thorough and thoughtful analysis of the prejudgment interest 

issue which these unique facts present. 

If the Court were to adhere to its tentative decision to address prejudgment 

interest, however, it would find that the district court’s decision is wholly consis- 

tent with the doctrinal underpinning for prejudgment interest awards, and fully 

consistent with the economic and equitable considerations that would pertain in 

the all-too-infrequent situation which exists here. Affirmation of the district 

court’s decision is appropriate on legal grounds, and it is “just” under the facts of 

this case. 
DiPietro argues that any award of prejudgment interest in this case is 

contrary to Florida law, based on an analysis along the following lines. 

1 .  He asserts that, until Argonaut Ins. Co. v. May Plumbing Co., 474 

So. 2d 212 (Fla, 1985), prejudgment interest was never available in personal 

injury cases in the absence of a statutory authorization. (IB 20-21). 

2. He asserts that, in Argonaut, the Court created a common law 

authorization for prejudgment interest in order to make a personal injury plaintiff 

“whole” for amounts which had in fact been paid out of pocket, with the interest 

to run from the date on which a jury “liquidates” the amount of those damages. 

(IB 22). 

3. He asserts that, like the situation addressed in Alvarado v. Rice, 614 

So. 2d 498 (Fla. 1993) (no “payment” of claimed medical expenses), and unlike 

the situation in Lumbermens Mutual Casualty Co. v. Percefull, 653 So. 2d 389 
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(Fla. 1995) (no “payment” required in contract cases), in this case Laurel Griefer 

has no “vested property right.” (IB 22). 

4. He asserts that the Argonaut and Alvarado principle was expanded in 

Palm Beach County School Board v. Montgomery, 641 So. 2d 183 (Fla. 4th DCA 

1994), to authorize prejudgment interest dating from the entry of a jury verdict 

which remains undisturbed, both as to liability and damages, throughout later 

proceedings in the lawsuit. (IB 22-23). 

5 .  He asserts that the Montgomery decision is not entirely an incorrect 

application of the principles of Argonaut and Alvarado because, when a verdict 

remains intact both as to liability and damages, the “verdict is in essence, the 

judgment.” (IB 23). In that circumstance, he says, the defendant has a choice of 
either paying the verdict at that point, or withholding payment until the entry of 

judgment and then providing the plaintiff with prejudgment interest. 

Yet, DiPietro argues that this case is different in kind from Argonaut and 

Montgomery because the Griefers delayed DiPietro’s ability to pay a sum certain 

by appealing the liability portion of the first jury’s verdict. (TB 23-24).” 

DiPietro embellishes this argument by asserting that the Griefers’ award of 

$2,075,000 is not an out-of-pocket expenditure,12 and that Laurel Griefer has no 

In Griefer ’93, 625 So. 2d at 1229, the Griefers had challenged the 
insufficiency of the jury’s damage award by appealing the trial court’s 
denial of additur. (2SR at 16-22). That “legal” ruling by the court did not 
prevent the district court from holding on rehearing that the verdict amount 
was not factually challenged on appeal, so that a retrial on damages was 
unnecessary. 
The record does not indicate that the economic damage award excludes 
out-of-pocket expenditures, and DiPietro himself recognizes that the award 
of $2,740,000, actuarially reduced to $775,000, in part reflects “medical 
expenses, etc.” (IB 24). There is no evidence in the record as to whether 

I2 
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vested right to any damage verdict. (IB 24-25). These arguments did not 

persuade the Fourth District, and they are no more persuasive here. 

A. The decision of the district court is consistent with the 
doctrinal underpinnings for an award of prejudgment 
interest. 

In arguing here that the Griefers’ appeals of liability have prevented 

DiPietro from paying any damage award, and that the award does not reflect out- 

of-pocket expenditures which would give Laurel a vested property right, DiPietro 

misconceives the fundamental nature of prejudgment interest in Florida. Prejudg- 

ment interest is only the time cost of money added to a damage award which, 

once fixed in amount by a jury, runs from the occurrence of a plaintiffs loss. 

The rationale for prejudgment interest was stated with elegant simplicity in Argo- 

naut, where the Court observed that since at least before the turn of the century, 

prejudgment interest is merely another element of pecuniary 
damages . . . . Under the “loss theory,” . . . the loss itself is 
a wrongful deprivation by the defendant of the plaintiff‘s 
property. 

474 So. 2d at 214-15. From that elemental description of prejudgment interest, 

the Court held that prejudgment interest becomes “merely a mathematical 

computation” once a verdict has liquidated the damages as of a date certain - “a 
purely ministerial duty of the trial judge or the clerk of the court to add the 

appropriate amount of interest to the principal amount of damages awarded in the 

verdict.’’ Argonaut, 474 So. 2d at 215 (emphases added). 

(. . . continued) 
the Griefers paid out or simply became indebted for the medical and other 
expenses which compose a part of the economic award. 
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The language of Argonaut indicates that the triggering mechanism for the 

mechanical award of prejudgment interest is the “verdict,” as DiPietro has recog- 

nized. (IB 21). It is highly significant that the Court pegged liquidation of the 

damage amount as of the date of a “verdict,” rather than as of entry of a “judg- 

ment. ” An understanding of the Court’s rationale for that distinctive choice, and 

how the “loss” doctrine relates to that choice, is found in the roots of Argonaut. 

The Argonaut case involved prejudgment interest on a subrogation claim 

brought by an insurance company against its negligent insured. The case came to 

the Court from the Fourth District, based on a conflict with Bergen Brunswig 

Corp. v, State, Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 415 So. 2d 765 

(Fla. 1st DCA), review denied, 426 So. 2d 25 (Fla. 1983). 

In addressing the conflict, the Court viewed the Fourth District’s denial of 
prejudgment interest as a “holding that the comparative negligence factor made 

the award of damages uncertain and, thus, unliquidated.” Argonaut, 474 So. 2d 

at 213.13 The Court characterized Bergen Brunswig as announcing that “a claim 

becomes liquidated and susceptible of prejudgment interest when a verdict has the 

effect of fixing damages as of a prior date.” Id. at 214. In describing the Bergen 
Brunswig decision, the Court noted that the First District had repudiated its prior 

holding that no prejudgment interest could be awarded unless there can be a 
“conclusive determination of an exact amount due.” Argonaut, 474 So. 2d at 214 

l3  The insurer had paid property owners for fire damage to an apartment 
building, and then pursued subrogation and prejudgment interest against its 
negligent insured. In the subrogation suit, the property owners were found 
to be 25% at fault for the fire loss, so the full amount paid by the insurer to 
the property owners could not be recovered from the tortfeasoddefendant . 
Argonaut, 474 So. 2d at 213.

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